IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

2010 NOV -9 PM 2: 59

No. 56383

LEWIS HELFSTEIN; MADALYN HELFSTEIN; SUMMIT LASERFILED PRODUCTS, INC; AND SUMMIT TECHNOLOGIES, LLC.

NOV 1 0 2010

Appellants,

VS.



UI SUPPLIES; UNINET IMAGING, INC.; AND NESTOR SAPORITI

Respondents.

Interlocutory Appeal from an Order Denying Appellant's Motion for Stay or Dismissal, and to Compel Arbitration

Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County, Nevada

The Honorable Elizabeth Gonzalez, District Judge

Appellant's Opening Brief

J. Michael Oakes, Esq.
Nevada Bar No. 1999
FOLEY & OAKES, PC
850 East Bonneville Avenue
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101
Tel.: (702) 384-2070
Fax: (702) 384-2128
mike@foleyoakes.com

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This is an appeal from an Order entered by the Honorable Elizabeth Gonzalez of the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County, Nevada, denying a Motion for Stay or Dismissal and to Compel Arbitration. The Notice of Entry of Order was served by mail on June 16, 2010. See Appellant's Appendix (hereafter referred to as "AA") at v.1, 196-200. A timely Notice of Appeal was filed on July 7, 2010. See AA at v.1, 201-203.

This court has jurisdiction of this appeal pursuant to NRS 38.247 (1)(a), which authorizes an interlocutory appeal from an order denying a Motion to Compel Arbitration, and NRAP 3A(b)(6), which authorizes an interlocutory appeal from an order "refusing to change the place of trial..."

On October 19, 2010, this Court entered an Order Granting Motion for Stay, staying the lower court proceedings "as they pertain to the crossclaims/third party claims" that are the subject of this appeal.

II.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Whether the District Court erred in refusing to enforce the arbitration agreement contained in an Agreement for the Purchase and Sale of Assets, (hereafter referred to as the "Sales Agreement"); and
- 2. Whether the District Court erred in refusing to enforce the forum selection clause contained in the Sales Agreement.
 - 3. Whether the District Court erred in refusing to change the place of trial.

FOLEY 6

III.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Plaintiffs below filed their complaint on April 3, 2009. AA, v.1, 1-16. They named two sets of defendants, consisting of the Appellants herein (also known as the "Helfstein defendants") and the Respondents herein (also known as the "Saporiti defendants"). The Helfstein defendants were Lewis Helfstein, Madelyn Helfstein, Summit Laser Products, Inc., and Summit Technologies, LLC. The Saporiti defendants were Nestor Saporiti, UI Supplies, and Uninet Imaging, Inc.

The Plaintiffs were alleging various claims arising out of a Consulting Agreement between the Plaintiffs and Appellant Summit Technologies, LLC. (See paragraph 7 of the Complaint, AA, v.1, 1-16). Claims were also asserted against the Respondents, as purchasers of the assets of Summit Technologies, LLC, including claims for breach of contract (see paragraph 25), promissory estoppel (see paragraphs 37-39), unjust enrichment (see paragraphs 40 – 42), and various other related claims.

Prior to filing a responsive pleading, the Appellants settled with the Plaintiffs, and Plaintiffs below filed a Notice of Voluntary Dismissal on November 23, 2009. AA, v.1, 38-39.

The Respondents then filed an Amended Answer, Counterclaim, and Crossclaim on January 19, 2010. AA, v.1, 40-73. The Crossclaim (which was really a third party claim because Appellants had been dismissed from the case) alleged (i) that the parties entered into an Agreement for the Purchase and Sale of Assets and the Respondents relied upon its provisions (see paragraphs 3 - 6), (ii) that the Respondents have been sued by the Plaintiffs, attempting to enforce the Plaintiff's Consulting Agreement against them (see paragraph 7), (iii) that Appellants "breached the term of the Sales Agreement by exposing Cross-Claimants to alleged damages by Plaintiffs related to the Consulting Agreement" (see paragraph 10), (iv) that Appellants "breached their obligations of good faith and fair dealing" (see paragraph 15), (v) that Appellants "did not comply with their duties

under the Sales Agreement nor with their underlying representations" (see paragraph 20), and (vi) that Appellants had failed to live up to their obligations under the Sales Agreement in various other manners (see paragraphs 25, 26, 31), all of which were similarly "arising out of" or "related to" the Sales Agreement.

The Appellants filed a Motion for Stay or Dismissal, and to Compel Arbitration on April 20, 2010. AA, v.1, 74-111. They argued that the claims asserted against them by the Respondents all arose out of the Sales Agreement, and under the Sales Agreement, the parties had agreed to mandatory arbitration in Nassau County, New York of "any controversy or claim arising out of or relating to this Agreement, or its breach." The motion was supported by the Affidavit of Lewis Helfstein, which authenticated the Agreement. AA, v.1, 87-88, 112-117.

The motion seeking enforcement of the arbitration clause and the forum selection clause was denied by an order entered on June 15, 2010. AA, v.1, 196-200.

This appeal was taken from the June 15, 2010 order, as NRS 38.247(1)(a) authorizes an interlocutory appeal of an order denying a motion to compel arbitration, and NRAP 3A(b)(6) authorizes an interlocutory appeal from an order "refusing to change the place of trial..."

IV.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Respondents purchased a business from the Appellants. The purchase and sale was governed by the Sales Agreement, AA, v.1, 89-108.

On page 1 of the Sales Agreement, it states that "This agreement is made as of March 30, 2007, at Bohemia, New York..." AA, v.1, 89.

On page 5 of the Sales Agreement, the Seller assigned and the Buyer assumed the lease of the premises at 95 Orville Drive, Bohemia, New York. AA, v.1, 93.

On page 10 of the Sales Agreement, the Buyer represented that "Buyer is a Corporation, duly organized, validly existing, and in good standing under the laws of the State of New York". AA, v.1, 99.

On page 15 of the Sales Agreement, it states that "Any controversy or claim arising out of or relating to this Agreement, or its breach, shall be settled by binding arbitration in accordance with the commercial rules of the American Arbitration Association, and judgment on the award rendered by the arbitrator(s) may be entered in any court having jurisdiction. The venue of any arbitration shall be Nassau County, New York." AA, v.1, 104.

On pages 15 and 16 of the Sales Agreement, both Seller and Buyer gave New York addresses for the giving of any notices required under the Agreement. AA, v.1, 104-105.

On page 16 of the Sales Agreement, the definition of a "business day" excluded any "legal holiday in the State of New York." AA, v.1, 105.

On page 17 of the Sales Agreement, it states that "this Agreement is made in, and shall be construed under, the substantive laws of the State of New York, exclusive of choice of law principles. Nassau County, New York shall be the sole venue for any action or arbitration brought pursuant to this agreement." AA, v.1, 106.

The claims asserted against the Appellants by the Respondents are for reimbursement of any amounts that Respondents are required to pay to the Plaintiff as a result of having purchased the assets from the Appellants pursuant to the Sales Agreement. Such claims fall directly within the broadly worded arbitration provision of the Sales Agreement.

V.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Arbitration agreements are strongly favored under the law. This is true under both New York law and Nevada law. The intention of the parties to arbitrate their disputes should have been honored by the District Court.

FOLEY 28

Furthermore, the intention of the parties to litigate their disputes in Nassau County, New York should have been enforced. This was not a standard form "take it or leave it" contract that was used by one side of the transaction on a repetitive basis. It was a contract between two New York entities with equal bargaining power, who agreed to resolve their disputes, through arbitration in New York under New York law.

The District Court erred in failing to enforce these terms of the Sales Agreement, and in requiring the Appellants to defend these claims in an improper venue.

VI.

ARGUMENT

A. AGREEMENTS TO ARBITRATE ARE FAVORED UNDER THE LAW, AND THE ARBITRATION AGREEMENT SHOULD HAVE BEEN ENFORCED

The Agreement contains a choice of law provision stating that New York law will apply to any dispute. Regardless of whether New York law or Nevada law is applied, the result is the same, because both states have a strong public policy in favor of the enforcement of arbitration provisions.

Under New York law, the case of <u>Harris vs. Shearson Hayden Stone</u>, 82 A.D. 2d 87, 441 N.Y.S.2d 70 (N.Y.A.D. 1981), aff'd 56 N.Y.2d 627, 435 N.E.2d 1097, 450 N.Y.S.2d 482 1982), held that:

"[T]his State favors and encourages arbitration as a means of conserving the time and resources of the courts and the contracting parties." (Matter of Nationwide Gen. Ins. Co. v Investors Ins. Co. of Amer., 37 NY2d 91, 95; see Matter of Maye [Bluestein], 40 NY2d 113.) Moreover, "[p]arties to a contract may agree, if they will, that any and all controversies growing out of it in any way shall be submitted to arbitration. If they do, the courts of New York will give effect to their intention." (Matter of Marchant v Mead-Morrison Mfg. Co., 252 NY 284, 298.) "It has long been this State's policy that, where parties enter into an agreement and, in one of its provisions, promise that any dispute arising out of or in connection with it shall be settled by arbitration, any controversy which arises between them and is within the compass of the provision must go to arbitration." See 82 A.D. 2d at 93.

OAKES

The strong policy in favor of arbitration is similarly well known in Nevada. NRS 38.035 states:

A written agreement to submit any existing controversy to arbitration or a provision in a written contract to submit to arbitration any controversy thereafter arising between the parties is valid, enforceable and irrevocable save upon such grounds as exist at law or in equity for the revocation of any contract.

As described in <u>Phillips v. Parker</u>, 106 Nev. 415, 794 P.2d 716 (1990), the Nevada Supreme Court has emphasized the desirability of enforcement of an arbitration agreement between the parties. The Phillips decision contains the following pronouncements of Nevada law on the subject:

"There is a strong public policy favoring contractual provisions requiring arbitration of a dispute resolution mechanism. Consequently, when there is an agreement to arbitrate we have said that there is a "presumption of arbitrability."

"We have previously held that once an arbitrable issue has been found to exist, all doubts concerning the arbitrability of the subject matter should be resolved in favor of arbitration. Exber, Inc. v. Sletten Constr. Co., 92 Nev. 721, 729, 558 P.2d 517, 522 (1976). Courts are not to deprive the parties of the benefits of arbitration they have bargained for, and arbitration clauses are to be construed liberally in favor of arbitration." See 106 Nev. at 417.

The allegations of the Respondents against the Appellants are "arising out of" or "related to" the Sales Agreement that contained the arbitration provision. The District Court erred by not giving effect to those provisions.

B. FORUM SELECTION CLAUSES ARE ENFORCEABLE, AND THE CHOICE OF FORUM PROVISION SHOULD HAVE BEEN GIVEN EFFECT

The Sales Agreement contains a forum selection clause, designating Nassau County, New York as the forum for any litigation or arbitration.

"Where such forum selection provisions have been obtained through `freely negotiated' agreements and are not `unreasonable and unjust,' their enforcement does not offend Due Process." See: <u>Burger King Corp. v. Rudzewicz</u>, 471 U.S. 462, 472, n.14 (1985).

Since the Agreement was made in New York among New York entities, there is nothing "unreasonable and unjust" about enforcing the venue provision as written. It bears repeating that:

On page 1 of the Sales Agreement, it states that "This agreement is made as of March 30, 2007, at Bohemia, New York..." AA, v.1, 89.

On page 5 of the Sales Agreement, the Seller assigned and the Buyer assumed the lease of the premises at 95 Orville Drive, Bohemia, New York. AA, v.1, 93.

On page 10 of the Sales Agreement, the Buyer represented that "Buyer is a Corporation, duly organized, validly existing, and in good standing under the laws of the State of New York". AA v.1, 99.

On page 15 of the Sales Agreement, it states that "Any controversy or claim arising out of or relating to this Agreement, or its breach, shall be settled by binding arbitration in accordance with the commercial rules of the American Arbitration Association, and judgment on the award rendered by the arbitrator(s) may be entered in any court having jurisdiction. The venue of any arbitration shall be Nassau County, New York." AA, v.1, 104.

On pages 15 and 16 of the Sales Agreement, both Seller and Buyer gave New York addresses for the giving of any notices required under the Agreement. AA, v.1, 104-105.

On page 16 of the Sales Agreement, the definition of a "business day" excluded any "legal holiday in the State of New York." AA, v.1, 105.

On page 17 of the Sales Agreement, it states that "this Agreement is made in, and shall be construed under, the substantive laws of the state of New York, exclusive of choice of law principles. Nassau County, New York shall be the sole venue for any action or arbitration brought pursuant to this agreement." AA, v.1, 106.

Thus, the State of New York had significant ties to the transaction, and those ties were mentioned throughout the Sales Agreement. By way of contrast, the State of Nevada was not mentioned anywhere in the Sales Agreement. Under these circumstances, there was no evidence

and no valid rationale to refuse to give effect to the intention of the parties concerning their choice of forum. There was nothing "unreasonable or unjust" about the decision of the parties to choose New York as the forum for their disputes. Their agreement should have been enforced.

C. VENUE WAS IMPROPER IN CLARK COUNTY

Even without a valid forum selection clause, venue for the cross claim was improper.

NRS 13.010 states:

"Where actions are to be commenced.

1. When a person has contracted to perform an obligation at a particular place, and resides in another county, the action must be commenced, and, subject to the power of the court to change the place of trial as provided in this chapter, must be tried in the county in which such obligation is to be performed or in which the person resides; and the county in which the obligation is incurred shall be deemed to be the county in which it is to be performed, unless there is a special contract to the contrary."

Neither of these provisions point to Clark County as a proper venue for the dispute between Appellants and Respondents. The Sales Agreement recited that the agreement was "made as of March 30, 2007, at Bohemia, New York…" Thus, since "the county in which the obligation is incurred shall be deemed to be the county in which it is to be performed," Bohemia, New York was the place of performance, not Clark County. Furthermore, neither of the parties "resided" in Clark County.

Given the improper venue and the clear forum selection clause, it is clear that Clark County is not a proper venue for this dispute, and even if it was a permissible venue, Nassau County, New York, is the more appropriate forum for the adjudication of these claims.

VII.

Conclusion

The District Court erred in failing to give effect to the intentions of the parties as evidenced by the Sales Agreement. The arbitration clause and the forum selection clause should have been

OAKES

enforced, and the crossclaim of the Respondents against the Appellants should have been dismissed, without prejudice. The June 15, 2010 Order Denying Motion To Stay or Dismiss should be reversed, with directions to dismiss the action of the Respondents against the Appellants, without prejudice to the rights of either of them to litigate their disputes, through arbitration in Nassau County, New York.