#### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

2

LEWIS HELFSTEIN, MADALYN

**Appellants** 

Respondents.

HELFSTEIN, SUMMIT LASER PRODUCTS, INC., SUMMIT TECHNOLOGIES LLC

1

3

5

6

VS.

7 UI SUPPLIES, UNINET IMAGING AND NESTOR SAPORITI,

9

10

11 12

13

14 15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22 23

24

25

26 27

28

No. 56383

District Court Mechanically Filed Dec 07 2010 03:16 p.m. Tracie K. Lindeman

#### RESPONDENTS' ANSWERING BRIEF

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

#### V. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS

Appellants are indispensable parties to claims arising out of the Consulting Agreement. The Consulting Agreement contains a mandatory clause making Nevada the proper forum for those disputes. Under Nevada Rule of Civil Procedure 13(h), Respondents are entitled to bring a cross-claim against Appellants based on the nature of Plaintiffs' action. Furthermore, they are also allowed to join Appellants to the underlying action under Nevada Rule of Civil Procedure 14(a) based on their right to seek indemnification. As such, this Appeal should be

denied in its entirety.

#### VI. ARGUMENT

Appellants argue that the arbitration and forum selection clauses of the Asset Purchase Agreement mandates that Respondents bring their cross/third-party claims in an arbitration separate from Plaintiffs' action. Appellants' Opening Br. at 6:18-20, 8:5-23. However, they did not address the District Court's ruling that Respondents' cross claims against Appellants arose out of Plaintiffs' action under the Consulting Agreement. (App. Vol. I at AA000149-50 at ¶ 14.) Similarly, Appellants also failed to address the Consulting Agreement's forum selection clause that made Nevada the proper forum. *Id.* at AA000149-50 at ¶ 14. Instead, Appellants completely ignored the underlying procedural issue that Plaintiffs instigated a lawsuit for the Consulting Agreement, not the Asset Purchase Agreement, in their attempts to enforce the arbitration and venue clauses of the Asset Purchase Agreement. Ultimately, Appellants' failure to refute that they are indispensable parties to Plaintiffs' litigation for the Consulting Agreement illustrates the futility of this appeal. *See* Ex. A *et seq*.

This Argument is organized into three Parts. Part A sets for the standard of review for the enforcement of an arbitration/venue appeal. Part B demonstrates how Appellants' status as indispensable parties to the Consulting Agreement permit claims against them under Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure 13 and 14. Finally, Part C explains that Respondents never assumed the Consulting Agreement,

### A. Statement of the Standard of Review

Interestingly, Appellants omitted the statement of review, which is crucial to any appeal. Arbitration clauses and choice of forum are both questions of contract interpretation. State ex rel. Masto v. Second Judicial Dist. Court ex rel., 125 Nev. 5, \_\_\_\_, 199 P.3d 828, 832 (2009) (citing Clark Co. Public Employees v. Pearson, 106 Nev. 587, 590, 798 P.2d 136, 137 (1990); Phillips v. Parker, 106 Nev. 415, 417, 794 P.2d 716, 718 (1990)). Thus, this Honorable Court reviews such questions under a de novo standard. Id.

District Courts have the discretion to determine the enforceability of an arbitration clause. *May v. Anderson*, 121 Nev. 668, 672-73, 119 P.3d 1254, 1257 (2005). "Nevada

10

11

12 13

14

15

16 17

18

19

20

21 22

23

24

25

26 27

28

courts resolve all doubts concerning the arbitrability of the subject matter of a dispute in favor of arbitration." Int'l Assoc. Firefighters v. City of Las Vegas, 104 Nev. 615, 618, 764 P.2d 478, 480 (1988). However, "[i]f the court finds that there is no enforceable agreement, it may not . . . order the parties to arbitrate." NEV. REV. STAT. § 38.221(3).

Generally, arbitration is a matter of contract and "'a party cannot be required to submit to arbitration any dispute which he has not agreed so to submit." Truck Ins. Exchange v. Palmer J. Swanson, Inc., 124 Nev. 59, , 189 P.3d 656, 660 (2008) (quoting Thomson-CSF. S.A. v. American Arbitration Ass'n, 64 F.3d 773, 776 (2d Cir.1995) (quoting Steelworkers v. Warrior & Gulf Co., 363 U.S. 574, 582, 80 S.Ct. 1347, 4 L.Ed.2d 1409 (1960)). Thus, while Nevada recognizes a strong policy in favor of arbitration, "such agreements must not be so broadly construed as to encompass claims and parties that were not intended by the original contract." see Mikohn Gaming Corp. v. McCrea, 120 Nev. 248, 252, 89 P.3d 36, 39 (2004). Nevertheless, the obligation to arbitrate, which was executed by another party, may attach to a nonsignatory. Truck Ins. Exchange, 189 P.3d at 660 (citing Inter. Paper v. Schwabedissen Maschinen & Anlagen, 206 F.3d 411, 416-17 (4th Cir.2000)).

#### Respondents' Claims Against Appellants Arise out of the Consulting В. Agreement

There is no enforceable agreement that requires arbitration in this matter. As stated earlier, Plaintiffs' claims arise under the Consulting Agreement. Without admitting the sufficiency of those claims, Plaintiffs allege that Respondents are liable to them for breach of that agreement. (App. Vol. I at AA00001-16.) Notably, Respondents were never a party to the Consulting Agreement, nor assumed it. *Id.* at AA000093-95 at ¶¶ 6.1, 6.6, 6.7, 7.9, 7.10, 7.12. The only parties to that Agreement were Plaintiffs and Appellants.

The Consulting Agreement does not require arbitration. *Id.* at AA000142-51. Plaintiffs should not be allowed to prosecute their claims against Respondents without joining Appellants in this matter. See Ex. A. Otherwise, gross injustice and unfairness would befall Respondents since they never assumed the Consulting Agreement. While Appellants are attempting to characterize the cross-claims as arising under the Asset Purchase Agreement,

1 | 2 | 3 |

they completely failed to acknowledge their status as indispensable parties to the Consulting Agreement. In that light, the cross-claims against Appellants are appropriate arise under the Consulting Agreement.

Similarly, the forum selection clause of the Asset Purchase Agreement is also inapplicable. As stated earlier, the Consulting Agreement clearly sets Nevada as the proper jurisdiction for claims arising out of it. (App. Vol. I at AA000149-50 at ¶ 14.) Plaintiffs are prosecuting a case solely based on the Consulting Agreement. As such, the forum selection clause of the Asset Purchase Agreement is inapplicable. Thus, enforcing those clauses to allow Appellants to escape this jurisdiction is improper.

Respondents respectfully request that this Honorable Court affirm the District Court. Plaintiffs' action arises under the Consulting Agreement. The Asset Purchase Agreement cannot be so broadly construed as to encompass claims arising under the Consulting Agreement. This is especially true since the plain language of the Asset Purchase Agreement specifically states that Respondents were not assuming the Consulting Agreement. Both the arbitration and venue clauses of the Asset Purchase Agreement are inapplicable as it pertains to the Consulting Agreement.

## C. Appellants are Indispensable Parties to the Underlying Case

Appellants are indispensable parties to the adjudication of the Consulting Agreement. *See* Ex. A. "It would be impossible for [the District Court] to properly adjudicate [Plaintiffs'] action and all of the claims at issue between these parties without [Appellants] participating in it." *Id.* at 3:1-2. "[R]esolution of [Plaintiffs'] case will primarily depend on the actions and credibility of the principal parties to the [Asset Purchase Agreement] transaction, which were Mr. Saporiti and Mr. Helfstein." *Id.* at 2:21-23.

Thus, as indispensable parties Plaintiffs' claims arising under the Consulting Agreement, Appellants are proper parties under Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure 13(h) and 14(a). While Plaintiffs' allege that the Asset Purchase Agreement assigned the Consulting Agreement to Respondents, this does not invoke the arbitration/venue clauses of the Asset Purchase Agreement. *Mikohn Gaming Corp. v. McCrea*, 120 Nev. 248, 252, 89 P.3d 36, 39

(2004) ("such agreements must not be so broadly construed as to encompass claims and parties that were not intended by the original contract"). Simply, Plaintiffs did not assert an action under the Asset Purchase Agreement. (App. Vol. I at AA000199-200.) As such, the Asset Purchase Agreement cannot be so broadly construed as to encompass Plaintiffs' action under the Consulting Agreement.

#### 1. Joinder of Additional Parties Under Rule 13(h)

A cross claim is the proper procedural device for the joinder of additional parties when the joinder is necessary for just adjudication based on its status as an "indispensable party," or the relief arises out of the same transactions, occurrences, or series of transactions and occurrences with common questions of fact and/or law. NEV. R. CIV. PRO. 13(h). "An indispensable party is a party who is 'necessary' to an action, but for some reason, cannot be made a party to that action." Potts v. Vokits, 101 Nev. 90, 92, 692 P.2d 1304, 1306 (1985). If the court finds that a party is indispensable, it must decide whether in equity and good conscious the action should proceed. *Id.* "If in equity and in good conscious the action cannot proceed without the necessary party, that party is 'indispensable' . . . . " Id.

Nevada Rule of Civil Procedure 19 states that:

17

18

19

20

1

2

3

6

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

A person who is subject to service of process and whose (a) joinder will not deprive the court of jurisdiction over the subject matter of the action shall be joined as a party in the action if (1) in the person's absence complete relief cannot be accorded among those already parties, or (2) the person claims an interest relating to the subject of the action and is so situated that the disposition of the action in the persons absence may (I) as a practical matter impair or impede the persons ability to protect that interest or (ii) leave any of the persons already parties subject to a substantial risk of incurring double, multiple, or otherwise inconsistent obligations by reason of the claimed interest. If the person has not been so joined, the court shall order that the person be made a party. If the person should join as a plaintiff but refuses to do so, the person may be made a defendant, or, in a proper case, an involuntary plaintiff.

21

22 23

24

25

(Emphasis added).

26

27

1///

////

#### 2. Third-Party Practice Under Rule 14

Third-party practice "is based upon a theory of indemnity." *Reid v. Royal Ins. Co.*, 80 Nev. 137, 140, 390 P.2d 45, 46 (1964). When a third-party may be liable to a defendant, the defendant may, as a third-party plaintiff, make a claim against the third-party defendant for all or part of the plaintiff's claim against the third-party plaintiff. Nev. Rule. Civ. Pro. 14(a). "The application of indemnity (when proper) shifts the burden of the entire loss from the defendant tort-feasor to another who should bear it instead." *Reid*, 80 Nev. at 141, 390 P.2d at 47 (citing Prosser, Torts § 46 (2nd Ed.)).

# 3. <u>Appellants are Proper Cross-Claimants Under Rule 19, and Proper Third-Party Defendants Under Rule 14(a)</u>

Appellants are indispensable parties to Plaintiffs' claims under the Consulting Agreement. See Ex. A. As a practical matter, Appellants' absence from this litigation impairs and impedes Respondents' ability to protect their interests. Similarly, there is a substantial risk of inconsistent outcomes if Respondents are obligated to defend this action without the presence of Appellants. Thus, Respondents respectfully request that this Honorable Court consider the extent that a judgment rendered without Appellants will prejudice Respondents. Additionally, they also request that the Court consider the extent that a judgment under the Consulting Agreement can actually be rendered without Appellants when Respondents were never a party to it nor assumed it.

Plaintiffs are suing Respondents for breach of the Consulting Agreement. *Id.* at AA000001-16. Nevertheless, in Plaintiffs' own words to describe how Appellants are "indispensable" to the underlying action, they explain:

[Appellants appear now to be indispensable parties to [the underlying] action and any further delay is costly to plaintiffs. (Ex. A at 2:2-3) [R]esolution of this case will primarily depend on the actions and credibility of . . . Mr. Helfstein. To allow Mr. Helfstein to distance himself from the trial at this point will result in both the plaintiffs and [Respondents] being prejudiced, as well as causing a great inconvenience for [the District Court]." (Id. at 2:21-25) It would be impossible for [the District Court] to properly adjudiciate [the underlying] action and all of the claims at issue between these parties with [Appellants] participating in it.

Furthermore, this Honorable Court should take notice that Appellants' active fault actually and proximately caused 100% of Plaintiffs' alleged damages. Appellants were contractually obligated to Circle Consulting through the Consulting Agreement. (App. Vol. I at AA000142-51.) Thus, they had a legal obligation to abide by those terms and avoid materially breaching the Consulting Agreement. In terms of the Asset Purchase Agreement, Mr. Helfstein provided several warranties that he secured Mr. Seaver's consent to terminate the Consulting Agreement upon the sale of Summit's assets. *Id.* at AA000093-95 at ¶ 6.1.

Respondents' warranties in the Asset Purchase Agreement demonstrate that Respondents are entitled to indemnification from Appellants. These warranties included representations that: (1) the Consulting Agreement was terminated; (2) it had the necessary authority and consent to terminate the Consulting Agreement; (3) there were no potential claims or threats of litigation; (4) there would not be a breach of the Consulting Agreement from the Asset Purchase Agreement; and (5) there were no misrepresentations of material fact that would make any of the foregoing misleading. *Id.* at ¶¶ 6.1, 6.6, 6.7, 7.9, 7.10, 7.12.

The undisputed facts demonstrate that the only defendants culpable for Plaintiffs' alleged damages are Appellants. Overwhelming evidence demonstrates that Respondents did not want to assume the Consulting Agreement. *See Id.* Respondents do not have any legal obligation to Plaintiffs. As such, any liability borne by Respondents should be completely shifted to Appellants. *See* NEV. R. CIV. PRO. 14(a). In total, the Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure demand that Appellants remain parties to this action in Nevada. The cross-claims and third-party claims do not arise against Appellants solely based on the Asset Purchase Agreement. They arise directly out of the Consulting Agreement itself. Under that contract, it specifically provides that Nevada is the proper forum.

#### VII. CONCLUSION

The District Court's opinion that Respondents' cross/third-party claims arise out of the Consulting Agreement should be affirmed. Appellants are clearly indispensable parties to both the Consulting Agreement and the Asset Purchase Agreement. *See* Ex. A. Their status as the only party with privity of contract to both agreements demonstrates how they are

26

27

28

indispensable to Plaintiffs' case. Furthermore, the plain language of the Consulting Agreement does not contain an arbitration agreement and explicitly states that Nevada is the proper venue for disputes arising under the Consulting Agreement. As the Consulting Agreement is the controlling document upon which the Plaintiffs are prosecuting this litigation, those terms should control.

Furthermore, the Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure permit Respondents to join Appellants in this action. Under Rule 13(h), Appellants qualify as indispensable parties who are participants in the same transactions arising under Plaintiffs' Complaint. Additionally, Appellants are obligated to indemnify Respondents for any damages Plaintiffs have allegedly incurred under the Consulting Agreement. Those damages would be directly related to the active fault of Appellants. This allows for a complete shift of liability from Respondents to Appellants.